

1 **Spatial Planning Model for Optimizing Conservation**  
2 **Priorities for Local Community Utilization on Arefi**  
3 **Island in the Raja Ampat Marine Protected Area (MPA)**  
4 **Southwest Papua, Indonesia**

5  
6  
7 Mulyanto Darmawan<sup>1</sup>, Debora Christi Simamora<sup>2</sup>, Irmadi Nahib<sup>3</sup>, Fadhullah Ramadhani<sup>1</sup>,  
8 Dewayany Sutrisno<sup>4</sup>, Fahmi Amhar<sup>1</sup>, Muhammad Ramdhan<sup>1</sup>, Sitarani Safitri<sup>1</sup>, Bayu Sutejo<sup>4</sup>,  
9 Samsul Arifin<sup>1</sup>, Syamsul Bahri Agus<sup>2</sup>

10  
11 <sup>1</sup> Research Center for Geoinformatics, National Research and Innovation Agency of Indonesia  
12 (BRIN), Bogor, West Java, Indonesia

13 <sup>2</sup> Department of Marine Science and Technology, IPB University, Bogor, West Java, Indonesia

14 <sup>3</sup> Research Center for Limnology and Water Resources, National Research and Innovation  
15 Agency of Indonesia (BRIN), Bogor, West Java, Indonesia

16 <sup>4</sup> Research Center for Conservation of Marine and Inland Water Resources, National Innovation  
17 and Research Agency (BRIN), Bogor, West Java, Indonesia

18  
19 Corresponding Author:

20 Mulyanto Darmawan<sup>1</sup>

21 Street Address, Bogor, West Java, 16680, Indonesia

22 Email address: Muly023@brin.go.id

23  
24 **Abstract**

25 This study investigates the application of remote sensing technologies to identify the biophysical  
26 characteristics of marine ecosystems for spatial planning, focusing on optimal conservation  
27 scenarios within the Raja Ampat Marine Protected Area (MPA) on Arefi Island, Southwest  
28 Papua, Indonesia. Indigenous communities manage this area. WorldView-3 satellite imagery,  
29 combined with an object-based image analysis (OBIA) approach, was used to classify and map  
30 coastal ecosystems. A Marine Reserve Design using the Spatially Explicit Annealing (Marxan)  
31 model was applied to delineate conservation areas and propose zoning strategies. Three  
32 scenarios, based on Ecological Values (EV), were tested to prioritize conservation features while  
33 ensuring sustainable ecosystem use. Image analysis revealed that Arefi Island's coastal  
34 ecosystems cover 64.78 hectares, consisting of seagrass beds (45.41%), coral reefs (36.35%), and  
35 mangroves (18.24%), with a kappa accuracy of 0.82. Results indicate, EV **III** is most closely  
36 aligned with international conservation standards, designating 34.37 hectares (6.32%) as a core  
37 conservation zone. However, Ecological Scenario **II** provided a balanced approach, allocating  
38 larger areas for local community use while preserving conservation integrity. Moreover,

Commented [MM1]: We don't know the scenarios by this point best to keep the abstract general.

39 sensitivity analysis confirmed that a conservation objective targeting 40% of the total area (EV  
40 II) is the most effective model for Arefi Island. The zoning breakdown under this scenario  
41 includes a Core Zone of 19.53 hectares, a Utilization Zone of 15.96 hectares, a Sustainable  
42 Fisheries Zone of 15.67 hectares, and Other Zones covering 92.89 hectares. This study highlights  
43 the effectiveness of remote sensing and spatial planning tools, such as Marxan, in marine  
44 conservation within indigenously managed areas, emphasizing the importance of balancing  
45 conservation efforts with sustainable community use for future planning.

46  
47 **Keywords:** Spatial planning, remote sensing, marine protected area, indigenous management,  
48 marxan models.

## 50 Introduction

51 Indonesia harbours some of the world's richest marine biodiversity. It encompasses  
52 approximately 3,953,800 hectares of the world's coral reefs, over 3,000,000 hectares of seagrass  
53 beds, and 2,332,429 hectares of mangroves (Amkieltiela et al., 2022; Burke et al., 2011;  
54 Hamilton & Friess, 2018; Thorhaug et al., 2020). These productive ecosystems provide  
55 numerous benefits, such as filtering pollutants, supplying nutrition, offering coastal protection,  
56 supporting livelihoods, and sequestering carbon. Due to these significant benefits, Indonesia has  
57 a high conservation priority, particularly in the Raja Ampat Marine Protected Area, located in the  
58 Arefi Island Regency, Southwest Papua Province. While other regions like Komodo National  
59 Park, Wakatobi, and Bunaken hold significant conservation value in Indonesia, Raja Ampat is  
60 uniquely distinguished by its extraordinary biodiversity, strategic location within the Coral  
61 Triangle, and globally significant ecosystems. The unique marine life, ecological significance,  
62 and need for sustainable management in the face of growing environmental pressures position  
63 Raja Ampat as a top conservation priority for Indonesia. The nation recognizes that safeguarding  
64 Raja Ampat is a national obligation and essential for protecting global marine biodiversity.  
65 Conservation efforts in Raja Ampat have also focused on supporting the livelihoods of  
66 indigenous and local communities (Sutton, 2023).

67  
68 The conservation of marine environments is crucial for maintaining the Earth's natural processes,  
69 addressing significant challenges like climate change, and promoting societal well-being and  
70 benefits (Marcos et al., 2021). In Indonesia, the government has established 411 Marine  
71 Protected Areas (MPAs) across its archipelago, covering approximately 9% of its territorial  
72 waters—over 28 million hectares (Estradivari et al., 2022). Among these, the Raja Ampat  
73 marine area was officially established as an MPA under Ministerial decree no. 36 in 2014,  
74 issued by the Ministry of Maritime Affairs and Fisheries (MMAF) of the Republic of Indonesia.  
75 Spanning approximately 1,026,540 hectares, this MPA is divided into five regions, each  
76 incorporating specific zones to support effective conservation sustainable development (MMAF,  
77 2014). In this framework, "zone" refers to a designated area with specific characteristics or  
78 function, often intended for conservation, resource management, or regulatory purposes. Raja

79 Ampat zoning system include core zones, utilization, fisheries, and other zones. The “other  
80 zones” category is further divided into two subzones: traditional use and seasonal closure, and  
81 other utilization (MMAF, 2016).

82  
83 MPAs are defined as marine, coastal, or small island areas that are protected and managed by a  
84 zoning system to achieve the sustainable management of fish resources and biodiversity  
85 conservation (Green et al., 2009). MPAs are essential tools for conserving marine biodiversity  
86 and sustaining ecosystem services (Claudet et al., 2020). MPAs that incorporate well-designed  
87 spatial planning strategies are more effective in achieving conservation goals (Edgar et al.,  
88 2014). With the rising threats from human activities - such as overfishing, habitat destruction,  
89 and climate change- spatial planning within MPAs has become vital for sustainable management  
90 (Mora and Peter, 2011). In area like Arefi Island, these challenges are compounded by sea level  
91 rise, ocean acidification, and intensified anthropogenic pressures. Overfishing and habitat  
92 destruction remain significant concerns, underscoring the need for effective spatial planning to  
93 mitigate these challenges is essential (White et al., 2014). Advanced modelling techniques have  
94 positioned spatial planning as a powerful tool for optimizing conservation efforts within MPAs.  
95 This approach systematically allocates marine areas for specific purposes, considering  
96 ecological, social, and economic goals to ensure sustainable use and long-term biodiversity  
97 protection.

98  
99 The Raja Ampat Regency in Southwest Papua, Indonesia, is renowned for its natural tourism-  
100 both on land and at sea- and its rich sociocultural heritage, largely attributed to its extraordinary  
101 marine biodiversity (Cinner et al., 2018). However, despite its global importance, the Raja  
102 Ampat MPAs face notable challenges, particularly in areas like Arefi Island. Arefi Island and its  
103 surroundings are located within the “other zones” of the Raja Ampat marine conservation area  
104 (MMAF, 2014). While the importance of Arefi in the broader context of marine conservation is  
105 recognized, the current MMAF decree lacks the specificity required to fully harness its potential.  
106 In particular, the decree fails to clearly delineate the boundaries of subzones, address the diverse  
107 ecosystems and biodiversity within the area, and optimize the use of marine resources by  
108 indigenous communities. This lack of precision hinders the realization of conservation  
109 objectives. For an MPA to be both effective and beneficial to surrounding communities, its  
110 location must adhere to four key principles: Connectedness, Adequacy, Representativeness, and  
111 Effectiveness (CARE) (Ban et al., 2011).

112  
113 Effective maritime planning is vital for designing robust marine conservation strategies. Spatial  
114 analysis plays a key role in optimizing decision-making, particularly when budgets are limited.  
115 In such case, prioritizing conservation areas with lower socioeconomic costs is essential to meet  
116 ecosystem service (ES) (de Groot et al., 2022; Schröter and Remme, 2016). Tools like Marxan  
117 are designed to incorporate these costs, enabling cost effective conservation planning to ES  
118 targets (Adame et al., 2015; Watson et al., 2019). By accounting for conservation cost as spatial

**Deleted:** Research indicates that protecting 20-30% of the coastal area is ideal for maintaining ecological health and sustaining biodiversity (Krueck et al., 2017; IUCN, 2008; Green et al., 2014). In recent years, however, the MPA areas, including Arefi Island, have faced increasing pressures from sea level rise, ocean acidification, and anthropogenic impacts like overfishing and habitat destruction. These threats jeopardize the ecological integrity of the Raja Ampat MPA and the sustainability of Arefi Island's marine ecosystems (Cinner et al., 2018).

129 constraints, these tools help prioritize areas where objectives can be achieved at the lowest-cost  
130 (Naidoo et al., 2006; Egoh et al., 2011). Conservation prioritization based on systematic  
131 conservation planning (SCP) theory enables cost-effective efforts while addressing multiple  
132 objectives (Beger et al., 2022). Originally foundational in conservation biology (Margules and  
133 Pressey, 2000), SCP now guides decision-making for prioritizing conservation actions (Kukkala  
134 and Moilanen, 2017). SCP prioritizes areas based on three criteria: importance, vulnerability, and  
135 feasibility, ensuring comprehensive coverage and balanced objectives (Wilson et al., 2009;  
136 Kukkala and Moilanen, 2017). Moreover, SCP addresses two key challenges—minimizing costs  
137 and maximizing benefits— by providing effective solutions for both planning and  
138 implementation (Alagador et al., 2016).

139  
140 Integrating maritime planning into a Geographic Information System (GIS) framework provides  
141 significant advantages for conservation efforts. This approach enables the evaluation of  
142 objectives, identification of marine use conflicts or synergies, risk assessment of human  
143 activities, spatial zone management, and scenario testing. Tools such as risk assessments,  
144 forecasting, modeling, and simulation models play a pivotal role in supporting efficient  
145 conservation planning and addressing complex ecological and management scenarios  
146 (Stelzenmüller et al., 2013). This study proposes a novel methodology for determining Other  
147 Effective Area-Based Conservation Measures (OECM) by combining Marxan and SCP theory  
148 within a GIS framework. By combining these tools, the methodology aim to enhance decision-  
149 making processes and optimaize conservation outcomes.

150  
151 Establishing MPAs is an important step toward conservation, but the lack of precise boundary  
152 delineation and inadequate attention to the intricate mosaic of ecosystems hampers the strategic  
153 planning needed for effective conservation. This gap in applying CARE principles in Arefi  
154 Island’s designation highlights a critical issue in marine conservation efforts in Indonesia and  
155 other similarly biodiverse regions worldwide. The generalized approach of the MMAF decree  
156 fails to address the ecological and socioeconomic complexities of Arefi Island, leading to a  
157 disconnect between conservation objectives and on-ground realities. This oversight not only s the  
158 ecological integrity of the protected area but also the livelihoods and cultural heritage of  
159 indigenous communities dependent on these marine resources. Moreover, the failure to align  
160 with recommended coverage and core zone area standards for MPAs exacerbates challenges in  
161 achieving sustainable conservation outcomes. Addressing these challenges requires a  
162 comprehensive, data-driven approach to MPA management that emphasizes spatial planning and  
163 community involvement, ensuring both biodiversity conservation and socioeconomic resilience.

164  
165 This study aimed to examine the complexities of conserving the Arefi subzone by utilizing  
166 existing biodiversity elements through remote sensing data, enabling the local community to  
167 make optimal use of these resources. The primary objectives were to use remote sensing data to  
168 identify biophysical features (mangroves, coral reefs, and seagrass) as input for determining

Deleted: ¶

Commented [MM2]:

Commented [MM3]: Missing verb

170 conservation areas on Arefi Island and to propose zoning within the the Raja Ampat MPA to  
171 protect biodiversity while supporting the sustainable management of marine resources by the  
172 local community. Through this research, we seek to provide valuable insights into marine  
173 conservation planning, contributing to the development of a robust and sustainable spatial plan  
174 for Arefi Island.

175

## 176 **Materials & Methods**

### 177 **Study Area**

178 This research was conducted in Area III of the Marine Protected Area (MPA) in the Dampier  
179 Strait, Arefi Island, Raja Ampat Regency, Southwest Papua (Fig. 1). Raja Ampat Regency is  
180 group of islands situated between 2°25' N and 4°25' S latitude and 130° E to 132°55' E  
181 longitude. The regency covers approximately 6,084.5 km<sup>2</sup> and encompasses around 600 islands  
182 of various sizes. The Raja Ampat conservation area is renowned for its ecological richness and is  
183 a popular tourist destination. It also holds strategic importance for fisheries due to its well-  
184 functioning aquatic ecosystem. Although categorized under "other zones" in the Raja Ampat  
185 MPAs, which includes four districts in Southwest Papua, satellite data reveal the significant  
186 biophysical potential of Arefi Island (McKenna et al., 2002; MMAF, 2018). The term "other  
187 zone" refers to the zoning classification used by MMAF for the Raja Ampat water conservation  
188 area.

189

190 Arefi Island, located at 0° 47' 18.67" S and 130° 42' 27.72" E, is home to significant marine  
191 biodiversity and provides crucial habitats for various species, including corals, fish, and  
192 endangered marine mammals (Kovacs et al., 2021; Trip et al., 2019). The island's unique  
193 characteristics make it a suitable candidate for various conservation zones, such as core,  
194 fisheries, and sustainable utilization areas. In addition to its ecological importance, Arefi Island  
195 is inhabited to indigenous cultures that practice the "sasi" tradition, a customary resource  
196 management system deeply rooted in their cultural heritage. This system involves periodic  
197 closures to allow ecosystem recovery and ensure resource sustainability (Sairiltiata, 2023).  
198 Under sasi, indigenous communities impose temporary bans (moratoriums) on the use of marine  
199 resources, such as coral reefs and fish, in specific areas for designated periods (Rachma Persada  
200 et al., 2018). This highlights the need for a comprehensive and nuanced zoning strategy to fully  
201 protect and utilize the island's diverse ecosystems.

202

203 Figure 1. Study area map in Arefi Island, Raja Ampat District

204

### 205 **Data Used**

206 The data used in this research primarily consists of remote sensing data, supplemented by  
207 secondary data sources (Table 1). The integration remote sensing data with ground-based  
208 observation or secondary data enhances the accuracy of the result (Petrou et al., 2015).

Commented [MM4]: grammar

209 Specifications of the multispectral bands of the Worldview 3 imagery are detailed in Table 2.  
210 The research framework and stages are illustrated in Figure 2.

211  
212 Figure 2: Research Framework

213  
214 The first step involved analyzing satellite imagery to map biophysical parameters, including  
215 mangroves, seagrass, and coral reefs. These biophysical parameters serve as breeding grounds  
216 for numerous fish species with both commercial and ecological significance (Weeks, 2017;  
217 Sutrisno et al., 2021) and are integral to conservation efforts. In the second step, the location of  
218 biophysical parameters were used as inputs for determining conservation features. Cost features  
219 were calculated based on the current usage, as presented in Table 3.

220  
221 Table 1: Types and Sources of Data

222 Table 2: Multispectral Bands of the WorldView-3 Satellite Imagery (Source: Choudhury et al.,  
223 2021)

224  
225 **Method of Biophysical Analysis**

226 The biophysical parameters were mapped using high-resolution Worldview 3 satellite images  
227 from 2021, provided by the Center for Data and Information, National Innovation and Research  
228 Agency (BRIN). The spatial resolution of these images is approximately 0.6 meters, allowing  
229 detailed analysis and mapping of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems.

230  
231 Due to spectral similarities, traditional pixel-based classification methods are limited for  
232 biophysical analysis in shallow water areas. To address this, Object-Based Image Analysis  
233 (OBIA) was employed, which differs from pixel-based methods by using image objects as the  
234 basic unit of analysis rather than individual pixels (Hossain and Chen, 2019). OBIA is needed for  
235 high resolution or highly variable images, because it is able to group pixels into objects based on  
236 spatial and spectral characteristics, thereby increasing classification accuracy (Blaschke, 2010).

237  
238 OBIA is an iterative process that starts with segmenting satellite images into cohesive and  
239 contiguous segments. These image objects are then classified using either supervised or  
240 unsupervised approaches (Belgiu and Csillik, 2018). According to Ventura et al. (2018), the  
241 OBIA workflow begins with image segmentation, a process based on pixel parameters with  
242 similar spectral values. In this study, we used the Multi-resolution Segmentation (MRS)  
243 algorithm to create image objects that minimize average heterogeneity and maximize  
244 homogeneity. The three key parameters in the MRS algorithm are shape, compactness, and scale  
245 (Darmawan et al., 2022). OBIA analysis was performed using eCognition Developer 64  
246 software.

247 The segmentation results were then classified using support vector machine (SVM) algorithms, a  
248 sophisticated non-parametric classifier widely employed in hyperspectral image classification

Deleted: ¶

250 that operates based on statistical learning theory (Tan et al. 2018). It is designed to seek an  
251 optimal decision hyperplane within a high-dimensional space, ensuring optimal separation of  
252 classes. SVM consistently performs well in challenging classification scenarios with high-  
253 dimensional features, demonstrating its effectiveness even when dealing with a limited number  
254 of training samples (Cao et al. 2018). The fundamental concept behind the SVM is to identify a  
255 hyperplane that maximizes the margin between distinct classes. This hyperplane is expressed by  
256 the following equation (Camps-Valls and Bruzzone, 2009)

$$257 \quad f(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i y_i K(x, x_i) + b$$

258 where,  $f(x)$  : decision function

259  $\alpha_i$  : Coefficients obtained during the training process

260  $y_i$  : class label of training sample  $x_i$

261  $K(x, x_i)$  : kernel function

262  $b$  : bias term

263  
264  
265 The predicted class of the input data point  $x$  is determined by  $f(x)$ . If  $f(x) > 0$  then the data  
266 point is classified as belonging to one class. If  $f(x) < 0$  then the data point is classified as  
267 belonging to another class. The classified data and field and secondary observations were then  
268 input into the Marxan software.

## 269 **Method of Priority Area Conservation**

### 270 **Marxan Model Principle**

271  
272 Marine Reserve Design Using Spatially Explicit Annealing (Marxan) is software designed to  
273 support the systematic design of conservation areas (Ball et al., 2009). Marxan aids in identifying  
274 conservation areas that offer high sustainability value while maintaining relatively low  
275 management costs. It operates using a simulated annealing algorithm, which is developed to  
276 rapidly achieve optimal results through iterative optimization (Anggraeni et al., 2017).

277 The Marxan algorithm involves numerous random changes to the protected area system, often  
278 involving one million or more iterations. Initially, all changes to the system are accepted,  
279 regardless of their impact on the objective function score. As the annealing process progresses,  
280 the likelihood of accepting unfavourable changes (those that increase the objective function  
281 score) gradually decreases, while the acceptance of beneficial changes (those that decrease the  
282 score) becomes more likely. This approach allows the algorithm to converge on a solution that  
283 closely approximates the optimal result (Moilanen and Ball, 2009).

284  
285 The optimal results represent the lowest total cost and are derived using the following equation  
286 (Watts et al., 2017):

287

288 
$$Total\ Cost = \sum_{i=1}^n Cost + (BLM \times \sum Boundary) + \sum_{i=1}^n (SPF \times Penalty)$$

289

290 Cost : The combination of socioeconomic values in each planning unit within the selected  
291 solution.

292 BLM : Boundary Length Modifier is a value set by the user and is related to the level of  
293 connectivity between planning units. The higher the Boundary Length value, the denser the  
294 solution area.

295 Boundary: The boundary of the selected area.

296 SPF : Values set by the user and related to the importance of biodiversity target objectives.

297 The higher the SPF assigned to a feature, the more Marxan prioritizes that feature in the solution.

298 Penalty: Penalty value assigned if biodiversity protection targets are not achieved (optional).

299  $i$  : Unit ID in the shapefile.

300  $n$  : Last Unit ID in the shapefile.

301

302 The boundary length in the protected area system was measured by counting the number of  
303 planning units that border areas outside the protected system. A fragmented protected area  
304 system will have a substantial boundary length. Modifying the boundary length or Boundary  
305 Length Modifier (BLM) aims to address connectivity issues by assigning a value based on the  
306 importance of maintaining a dense protected area network. BLM is crucial because a fragmented  
307 system is typically more challenging and costly to manage (Watts et al., 2017).

308

### 309 **Marxan Models**

310 To meet conservation feature targets, enhance connectivity between areas, and minimize overall  
311 management costs for priority zones, we utilized Marxan v.4.0.6. This software is designed to  
312 identify priority conservation areas. The analysis was conducted using the QMarxan Toolbox  
313 (2.0.1), a plugin for QGIS 3.18.3. The conservation features of Arefi Island include three critical  
314 ecosystems: mangroves, seagrass, and coral reefs. These features were identified using a map  
315 generated from object-based image analysis. Arefi Island served as the primary study area, with a  
316 buffer zone extending from the coastline to encompass all shallow water habitats within this  
317 zone. The study area was divided into hexagonal planning units with a side length of 15 meters,  
318 resulting in 9,531 planning units (PUs) within the area.

319

320 To estimate conservation costs, the cost feature used is based on the status of the area or region,  
321 as modified by Wijayanto et al. (2021) and Watts et al. (2017), and presented in Table 3. This  
322 includes areas with the following statuses: Resident Area (3), Land Use (3), Floating Net Cage  
323 (1), and Dock Area (1). Land use refers to the land cover on an island that is not identified as part  
324 of marine conservation areas.

325



326 Table 3 Cost Features and Planning Unit Status for Feature Conservation

327

328 This study examines the cost attributes of various human spatial utilization activities within the  
329 conservation area. Penalty scores are assigned to each cost attribute based on the significance of  
330 the activity, following Watts et al. (2017). Higher penalty scores indicate greater difficulty in  
331 designating the area as a core conservation zone. For instance, a penalty score of one is assigned  
332 to activities such as docks and floating net cages, while higher scores are given to land use and  
333 residential areas. These scores reflect the challenge of considering or reclassifying the area as a  
334 core zone (Wijayanto, 2021).

335

336 Both conservation features and cost attributes are assigned to each planning unit (PU) without  
337 normalization, ensuring that each PU contains values for both conservation features and costs.  
338 We then calibrated the Species Penalty Factor (SPF) and the Boundary Length Modifier (BLM).  
339 The SPF was calibrated to appropriately scale the penalty for missing conservation features  
340 relative to one another. The BLM was adjusted to identify the optimal value that balances area  
341 compactness with cost. As the BLM value increases, the algorithm tends to Favor a 'single large'  
342 design over 'multiple small' designs, thereby enhancing connectivity.

343

344 Next, three Ecological Value (EV) scenarios were analyzed using QMarxan. Scenario EV I,  
345 aligned with Target 3 of the post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework and IUCN guidelines,  
346 aims to protect 30% of identified conservation targets, including coral reefs, seagrass, and  
347 mangroves. This scenario is designed to enhance connectivity within the conservation area  
348 (IUCN, 2008) while supporting fisheries in the surrounding regions (Firmansyah et al., 2018).  
349 Protecting 30% of these key habitats is intended to strike a balance between conservation efforts  
350 and sustaining benefits for the local fishery sector (Waldron et al., 2020).

351

352 Scenario EV II set a 40% protection target, following the recommendations of Noss et al. (2012)  
353 and consistent with Aichi Target 11 (Harris and Holness, 2023) which adopt targets of 10%,  
354 30%, 40%, or 50%, for nature conservation to achieve biodiversity goals.

355 Aichi Target 11 emphasizes the need for protected areas and other effective conservation  
356 measures across geographic regions, including strictly protected zones as well as areas where  
357 sustainable use is permitted, as long as species, habitats, and ecosystem functions are adequately  
358 protected.

359

360 Scenario EV III adopted a 50% conservation target, following the 'Half-Earth' concept, which  
361 advocates protecting 50% of conservation targets. This ambitious scenario aligns with the  
362 ecoregional approach proposed by Dinerstein et al. (2017), which seeks to preserve 50% of the  
363 terrestrial biosphere for global ecological heritage conservation.

364

365 The irreplaceability of each planning unit was measured based on the frequency with which it  
366 was selected across 1,000 iterations, with values ranging from 0 to 1,000. Units with higher  
367 irreplaceability scores were considered more important for conservation. Planning units scoring  
368 between 750 and 1,000 were designated as Priority I, indicating their critical importance for  
369 conservation. Units scoring between 500 and 750 were categorized as Priority II, while those  
370 with scores between 250 and 500 were labelled as Priority III. Units with scores between 0 and  
371 250 were classified as Priority IV. Any unit with a score of zero was considered a nonpriority  
372 zone. Priority I areas were designated as core conservation zones, Priority II areas were allocated  
373 for tourism, Priority III areas were identified as fisheries zones, and Priority IV areas were set  
374 aside for other uses, such as coastal development. Next, the Priority I areas map (core  
375 conservation zones) is overlaid with the biophysical feature areas to identify important habitats.

376  
377 We validated the outputs of the Marxan model by comparing the conservation areas generated  
378 with actual field conditions to ensure that the target species and ecosystems were present in the  
379 identified priority areas. This validation was essential to confirm the feasibility of implementing  
380 Marxan's recommendations in the field. Additionally, we refined the model through iterative  
381 adjustments, such as modifying the SPF and testing various scenarios. This iterative process  
382 allowed us to develop a more robust and optimal conservation strategy.

383 We simulated three scenarios (30%, 40%, and 50%) with identical costs. Using the output from  
384 the Marxan operation, after 1,000 iterations for each scenario, we calculated: (1) the total number  
385 of selected planning units, (2) conservation costs, and (3) boundary length (BLM). Based on  
386 these results, to conduct a sensitivity analysis, we calculated conservation cost efficiency,  
387 defined as the number of planning units per unit of cost. A higher efficiency value indicates a  
388 more suitable scenario (Zhang and Li, 2022).

389  
390 To calculate conservation cost efficiency, the first step is to define the objective, which is  
391 conservation cost efficiency calculated as the ratio of the number of selected planning units to  
392 the total conservation costs. This method is used to assess how effectively resources are utilized  
393 in achieving conservation goals. The next step is to run Marxan simulations by performing  
394 multiple iterations (e.g., 1,000 iterations) for the defined scenarios (e.g., 30%, 40%, and 50%  
395 conservation targets). Each iteration will produce data on the number of selected planning units,  
396 the total conservation costs associated with these units, and the boundary length modifier. After  
397 the simulations are completed, the data to be collected includes the total selected planning units  
398 (SPU) and the total conservation costs (CC) associated with the selected units. Efficiency is  
399 calculated using the formula:

400  
401 Conservation Cost Efficiency = Total Selected Planning Units / Total Conservation Costs

402  
403 This calculation allows for comparing the number of planning units selected per unit of cost  
404 across different scenarios. A higher result indicates a more efficient scenario in terms of cost-

Commented [MM5]: Unclear. A sensitivity analysis usually refers to a process to determine how uncertainty in the output is divided among different inputs, what contributes to uncertainty and how. Maybe sensitivity analysis is not the best term here?

Commented [MM6]: repetitive sentence

Commented [MM7]: This paragraph seems like a repeat of the one starting on line 661

405 effectiveness in achieving conservation objectives. By applying this method, we can effectively  
406 evaluate and compare the efficiency of different conservation strategies using Marxan.

407

## 408 **Results**

### 409 **Satellite Image Analysis Results**

410

411 Satellite image analysis using Object-Based Image Analysis (OBIA) identified three primary  
412 coastal ecosystems on Arefi Island: mangroves, seagrasses, and coral reefs. Additionally, the  
413 Marxan model incorporates parameters such as floating nets, residential areas, and docks for  
414 zoning analysis. These parameters are crucial for determining conservation priorities within the  
415 Marxan framework. (Fig. 3). The total area of coastal ecosystems on Arefi Island is  
416 approximately 64.78 hectares. Coral reefs cover 36.35% of this area, making them a significant  
417 component. Mangroves and seagrasses are also present but are distributed unevenly across the  
418 island. Mangroves, which cover 11.81 hectares (18.24% of the total area), are primarily  
419 concentrated in the southeast, while their presence is relatively sparse in residential areas.  
420 Seagrass beds, covering 29.42 hectares and constituting 45.41% of the total area, are dominant in  
421 the northern part of Arefi Island. The overall classification has a kappa accuracy value of 0.82.  
422 Additionally, the presence of a port and floating fish cages indicates local community activities  
423 such as shipping, fishing, and tourism.

424

425 Figure 3 OBIA analysis of coastal ecosystems of Arefi Island, Raja Ampat, Southwest Papua

426

### 427 **Conservation Priority Area Recommendations for Arefi Island**

428 From the analysis of the maps presented in Figure 4, three important areas - core zone, utilization  
429 zone and sustainable fishery zone - were identified with higher selection percentages. These  
430 areas are found in the northern, southeastern, and southwestern waters of Arefi Island. Notably,  
431 the eastern part of Arefi Island showed a lack of selected areas for conservation.

432

433 Figure 4. Conservation zones on Arefi Island under (A) Ecological Value I, (B) Ecological Value  
434 II, (C) Ecological Value III.

435

436 The spatial zoning arrangements for Arefi Island's conservation areas under the three Ecological  
437 Value (EV) scenarios revealed significant differences in how space is allocated to optimize  
438 conservation priorities, as shown in Table 4.

439

440 Table 4. Zoning arrangements for Arefi Island conservation area.

441

442 This study compares three conservation scenarios—Ecological Value I (EV I), Ecological Value  
443 II (EV II), and Ecological Value III (EV III)—to evaluate the spatial allocation of core zones and  
444 their effectiveness in protecting key habitats, including coral reefs, seagrass beds, and

**Deleted:** , were identified highlighting their importance for optimizing conservation priorities in Arefi Island

447 mangroves. The analysis highlights the relationship between the extent of core zones and the  
448 level of habitat protection achieved. In EV I, the core zone covers 12.33 hectares, representing  
449 only 2.27% of the total area. This scenario provides minimal protection, conserving just 5.82%  
450 of coral reefs, 16.25% of seagrass beds, and 29.55% of mangroves (Table 5). A significant  
451 portion of the area (92.43%) remains allocated for general use, reflecting limited conservation  
452 prioritization.

453  
454 EV II introduces an expanded core zone of 19.53 hectares, increasing its share to 3.65% of the  
455 total area. This expansion results in improved habitat protection, safeguarding 21.74% of coral  
456 reefs, 22.16% of seagrass beds, and 29.55% of mangroves (Table 5). Altogether, this scenario  
457 ensures the protection of 23.35% of key habitats, indicating a moderate enhancement in  
458 conservation efforts compared to EV I.

459 EV III represents the most ambitious conservation scenario, with the core zone covering 34.37  
460 hectares, equivalent to 6.32% of the total area. This significant expansion enhances habitat  
461 protection dramatically, with 40.85% of coral reefs, 40.79% of seagrass beds, and 29.64% of  
462 mangroves included in the core zone (Table 5). In total, 38.76% of key habitats are safeguarded  
463 under this scenario, illustrating a strong commitment to conservation priorities.

464 The progression across the scenarios demonstrates a clear trend toward increasing habitat  
465 protection through larger core zones, with EV III achieving the most comprehensive  
466 conservation outcomes. This analysis underscores the importance of strategic spatial planning to  
467 balance ecological protection with other land-use demands.

468 As shown in Table 4, increasing the proportion of protected conservation features across the  
469 scenarios leads to a corresponding rise in the number of conservation planning units designated  
470 as core and utilization zones. Conversely, it results in a reduction in the areas allocated for  
471 sustainable fisheries and other zones. Using the 30% conservation scenario (EV I) as a baseline,  
472 expanding the protection targets to 40% (EV II) and 50% (EV III) increased the core zone size  
473 by 58.39% and 178.75%, respectively.

474  
475 However, the increase in utilization zone under EV III (34.99%) was less significant compared to  
476 EV II (80.75%) from EV I. Both EV II and EV III led to a reduction in areas designated for  
477 sustainable fisheries and other uses. This shift reflects a deliberate reallocation of spatial zones,  
478 with EV III showing a substantial reduction in these areas to accommodate an expanded Core  
479 Zone. This reconfiguration highlights the increased prioritization of conservation as the Other  
480 Zones decrease in size, making room for more core conservation areas.

481  
482 Tabel 5. Percentage of key biophysical habitats derived from remote sensing data and overlaid  
483 with the core zone under several scenarios

484

Commented [MM8]: Discussion, not results

Deleted: ¶

Based on the overlay analysis of the core zone map and the biophysical habitat or feature map, the identified key habitats are summarized in Table 5.¶

489 Table 5 illustrates the impact of different ecological value scenarios on the prioritization of  
490 habitat types within the core zone. Under Ecological Value I, the core zone covers 9.64 ha, with  
491 mangroves dominating at 29.55%, followed by seagrass at 16.25% and coral reefs at 5.82%. In  
492 Ecological Value II, the core zone expands to 15.13 ha, resulting in increased coverage of coral  
493 reefs (21.74%) and seagrass (22.16%), while mangroves remain constant at 29.55%. Finally,  
494 Ecological Value III sees the core zone grow to 25.12 ha, with coral reefs (40.85%) and seagrass  
495 (40.79%) becoming the dominant habitats, while the proportional coverage of mangroves  
496 declines slightly to 29.64%. This progression highlights how varying ecological priorities  
497 influence the distribution of key biophysical habitats.

499 As the scenarios progress from Ecological Value (EV) I to EV III, the core zone area increases  
500 significantly, incorporating larger proportions of coral reefs and seagrass. While mangrove areas  
501 remain constant across all scenarios, their percentage within the core zone decreases as the extent  
502 of other habitats expands. Scenario III achieves a more balanced representation of coral reefs and  
503 seagrass, whereas Scenario I places greater emphasis on mangroves relative to the core zone.

505 The results for the multitarget scenario are summarized in Table 6. As shown, increasing  
506 conservation targets leads to higher conservation costs and longer boundary lengths, although the  
507 pattern of conservation efficiency remains irregular.

508 Table 6 Comparison of Total PU, Cost, Boundary Length and Efficiency

509  
510 Table 6 compares the three scenarios based on four key metrics, highlighting differences in  
511 performance and resource allocation. Unit Count varies across scenarios, with Scenario 3 having  
512 the highest count (849) and Scenario 1 the lowest (569). Costs increase progressively, starting  
513 from Scenario 2 (92,418) to Scenario 3 (161,932). In terms of Length, Scenario 3 records the  
514 greatest length (9,900), while Scenario 1 has the shortest (8,310). This variation in length may  
515 influence both costs and efficiency, suggesting that it plays a significant role in overall  
516 performance. Finally, for Efficiency, Scenario 2 achieves the highest value (0.0062), whereas  
517 Scenario 1 has the lowest (0.0045). These comparisons illustrate the trade-offs and priorities  
518 among the scenarios.

520 The analysis of costs, length, and efficiency across the scenarios revealed that efficiency does not  
521 consistently correlate with cost. Scenario 2 achieves the highest efficiency despite having  
522 moderate unit count and costs, indicating a more effective allocation of resources compared to  
523 Scenarios 1 and 3. Conversely, Scenario 3 incurs the highest cost but does not deliver  
524 proportionally higher efficiency, suggesting diminishing returns as resource investment  
525 increases.

526

Commented [MM9]: Repeat of paragraphs starting on line 739

Commented [MM10]: Nice comparison

Commented [MM11]: Reads like a table caption, usually best to use tables to support your description of the results rather than simply write the table in paragraph form.

527 **Discussion**

528 The biophysical parameters detected from this study resulted in an accuracy of 82% ( $\kappa$   
529  $\approx 0.82$ ). According to Ventura et al. (2018) and Darmawan et al (2022), overall accuracy of 82%  
530 is quite accurate in shallow marine ecosystems. These three biophysical parameters play an  
531 important role in determining conservation zones in Arefi island. Mangroves and seagrasses on  
532 Arefi Island play a crucial role in controlling sediment runoff from land, reducing excessive  
533 sediment flows that could suffocate coral reefs. While, these ecosystems are vital for the island's  
534 conservation and sustainability, as they form an interconnected network that supports each other  
535 due to their interconnected and mutually supportive functions. For instances mangroves and  
536 seagrasses help control sediment release from land, protecting coral reefs from potential damage  
537 due to sedimentation. In return, coral reefs reduce wave impacts, providing protection to  
538 mangroves, creating a mutually beneficial relationship

539  
540 Golbuu et al. (2008) reported similar impacts on coral reef communities exposed to muddy river  
541 discharge in Pohnpei, highlighting the interconnected nature of coastal ecosystems. Mangroves,  
542 in turn, provide critical benefit from reduced wave impact and fostering mutually beneficial  
543 biological connections with coral reefs. This interdependence underscore the importance of  
544 preserving coral reefs, seagrass, and mangrove as a cohesive ecological unit. Efforts must focus  
545 on minimizing degradation from anthropogenic activities to ensure the resilience and  
546 sustainability of these vital ecosystems.

547  
548 The OBIA method leverages high-resolution satellite imagery to assess habitats within shallow  
549 marine ecosystems. The result from OBIA for identifying biophysical parameters highlight the  
550 potential of combining remote sensing data with ground-based observations to improve the  
551 accuracy of monitoring efforts. .

552  
553 Our study found that spatial planning models effective in identifying optimal conservation  
554 priority zones on Arefi Island for local community use within the Marine Protected Area. This  
555 approach aligns with Estradivari et al. (2022), who promoted OECMs under draft Target 3 of the  
556 Post-2020 Global Biodiversity Framework, which seeks to conserve 30% of marine areas by  
557 2030. OECM recognize and support conservation efforts that extend beyond designated Marine  
558 Protected Areas. This finding is consistent with Halpern et al. (2019), who showed that spatial  
559 planning model effectively integrates ecological data, habitat suitability assessments, and  
560 stakeholder input to identify areas of high conservation value and vulnerability.

561  
562 Applying this approach will enhance the effectiveness of conservation measures and ensure the  
563 long-term sustainability of marine ecosystems within the Raja Ampat MPA. Smaller  
564 conservation areas with well-defined boundaries improve management and monitoring capacity,  
565 enabling MPAs to better conserve, enhance, and restore the marine environment (Henneberg,

Commented [MM12]: I am assuming this is what you are referring to, it would be helpful to link to the terms you use earlier.

Commented [MM13]: ?

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

566 2023). Moreover, transparency in decision-making and active community involvement are also  
567 essential for the long-term success of MPAs (Henneberg, 2023).

568  
569 In our results, the absence of selected conservation areas in the eastern waters of Arefi Island is  
570 evident (Figure 4). This is likely due to the lower biodiversity in this region compared to other  
571 areas, justifying its exclusion from the Marxan-generated solution. Additional factors include  
572 high resolution satellite data scarcity and the cumulative impacts of anthropogenic activities, such  
573 as tourism, shipping routes, and aquaculture practices—particularly floating net systems. These  
574 impacts are more pronounced in the western and southern waters of Arefi Island, where human  
575 activities, including tourism and aquaculture, contribute to the scarcity of high-priority  
576 conservation areas.

577  
578 Among the three ecological values (EV), EV II and EV III were the closest to the international  
579 standard for conservation scenario. According to Green et al. (2014), marine sanctuary areas  
580 should cover 20–40% of each primary habitat to optimize benefits for fisheries management and  
581 biodiversity conservation, particularly in the context of climate change. Additionally, the core  
582 zone of a marine conservation area should encompass 20–30% of the total area to ensure the  
583 sustainability of key biological stocks (Krueck et al., 2017). Indonesia’s Minister of Marine  
584 Affairs and Fisheries Regulation No. 31 of 2020 on conservation area management stipulates that  
585 the core zone of a conservation area classified as a park must cover at least 10% of the ecosystem  
586 or habitat of the target species. The protection targets set in EV II meet the regulatory standards,  
587 as well as the guidelines outlined by Green et al. (2014) and Krueck et al. (2017).

588  
589 The study’s findings on Arefi Island, where a 40% protection target was applied, revealed a  
590 conservation area covering 20–30% of the region. This result aligns with previous studies, such  
591 as Suprianto et al. (2018) in the Thousand Islands, Jakarta and Anggraeni et al. (2017) in the  
592 coral triangle of Southeast Sulawesi. These earlier studies also identified potential zones for  
593 conservation, utilization, and sustainable fishing within marine protected areas (MPAs).  
594 Specifically, conservation targets for these habitats in the previous studies were set at 30%, 40%,  
595 and 50%.

596  
597 The findings of this study align with those Anggraeni et al. (2017), who also identified core and  
598 utilization zones in the Sunda Banda Seascape using Marxan analysis. While their conservation  
599 targets for these habitats were set at 30%, 40%, and 50%. The core zones accounted for 2% to  
600 13% of the total conservation area, suggesting challenges in achieving target thresholds. In  
601 comparison, our results indicate that core zones comprise 2–6% of the total area. Although this  
602 proportion remains below 10%, these zones still require protection. The remaining areas are  
603 proposed to be managed by indigenous communities under sustainable development principles.  
604 This highlights the importance of allocating larger areas for local community use while  
605 maintaining conservation integrity. Indigenous communities should play an active role in

Deleted: Referring to Figure 4.

Commented [MM14]: What do these additional factors do?

Commented [MM15]: Which are? In your study... the remainder of the paragraph is on indigenous communities, is your idea that balancing conservation and needs/rights of indigenous communities means that conservation areas will be lower than target thresholds?

607 regional conservation planning, particularly in the Arefi Islands, to ensure a balance between  
608 ecological preservation and sustainable resource utilization. These findings align with the study  
609 by Estradivari et al. (2022), which emphasizes the need to empower indigenous communities in  
610 managing marine conservation areas outside of designated MPAs, known as OECMs. Their  
611 study demonstrates that OECMs have significant potential to support marine area-based  
612 conservation in Indonesia, including aiding the Indonesian Government in achieving both  
613 national and international conservation targets and objectives.

614  
615 Our study found that spatial planning models using the Marxan approach effectively identify  
616 optimal conservation priority zones on Arefi Island for local community use within the Marine  
617 Protected Area. Unlike previous research, our study uniquely emphasizes the allocation of  
618 conservation zones that balance ecological preservation with the sustainable resource utilization  
619 needs of indigenous communities. This approach not only optimizes conservation outcomes but  
620 also aligns zoning recommendations with the socio-economic and cultural requirements of local  
621 stakeholders, thereby addressing a critical gap in prior Marxan applications in Indonesia.

Commented [MM16]: Good highlight of your research

622  
623 Previous studies have primarily demonstrated the effectiveness of Marxan in conservation  
624 planning. For example, Aulia et al. (2021) applied Marxan in the PISISI region of Simeulue  
625 Island to identify no-take zones, successfully protecting 80% of conservation targets. Similarly,  
626 Yusuf et al. (2008) and Sidik et al. (2008) recommended no-take zones covering 30% of Gili  
627 Sulat and Gili Lawang to conserve coral reefs, mangroves, and seagrass beds. Meanwhile,  
628 Firmansyah (2009) applied IUCN criteria delineated conservation zone in Maratua and Kakaban  
629 Islands, covering 20.44–25.27% of the total area of interest.

630  
631 In contrast, our research introduces a novel perspective by prioritizing local community  
632 utilization as a core element of conservation zoning—a factor often overlooked in earlier studies.  
633 By incorporating this focus, our approach not only addresses an important gap but also promote a  
634 more and sustainable framework for conservation planning in Raja Ampat Regency, Papua  
635 Province, Indonesia. This region retains strong adherence to customary law for managing  
636 indigenous communities issues, including marine conservation. As McKenna et al. (2002)  
637 highlight, the cultural values of indigenous Papuan communities align well with marine reef  
638 conservation, reinforcing the importance of integrating local traditions and practices into  
639 conservation strategies.

640  
641 However, the application of Marxan does not always fully align with IUCN standards, as  
642 demonstrated by Wijayanto et al. (2021) in Southeast Sulawesi. Their study used Marxan to  
643 identify core zones under three different scenarios, with the largest zone covering 1,498  
644 hectares—falling short of IUCN criteria. The analysis considered protection levels of 30%, 50%,  
645 and a combination of both, resulting in core zone sizes of 751, 1,008, and 1,498 hectares,  
646 respectively. While these scenarios met the critical habitat protection threshold of 30%, none



647 encompassed more than 1% of the total conservation area. In contrast, our findings provide  
648 valuable insights for managers and stakeholders, offering guidance for core zone designation,  
649 spatial planning, and sustainable development strategies.

650  
651 A similar analysis of the rezoning conservation areas in MPAs Area was conducted by Tasidjawa  
652 et al. (2013), who applied Marxan to determine core zone in the Community-Based Marine  
653 Protected Area (MPA) in Bahoi Village, North Sulawesi. The selection by the Marxan model  
654 focused on 10% of the total habitat, which had relatively low management costs and was  
655 conveniently located near the village, facilitating easy monitoring from the land.

656 The results of this study align with those of Zhang and Li (2022), who conducted research in the  
657 Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region of China. As the conservation target increased, both conservation  
658 costs and boundary lengths exhibited growth. Notably, conservation costs rose sharply when the  
659 target shifted from 80% to 90%. The boundary length initially showed a slower rate of increase  
660 between 20% and 50% conservation targets before accelerating at higher targets. A 40%  
661 conservation target is recommended for the Arefi Island area, reflecting its efficiency in  
662 balancing ecological protection and resources management. This recommendation is aligns with  
663 Zhang and Li's (2022) findings, which suggest that a 40%-50% conservation target is optimal  
664 based on sensitivity analysis. Consequently, the spatial priority results in this study were  
665 developed using the 40% target.

666  
667 Agnew et al. (2024) highlighted the practicality of using Marxan as an accessible tool to address  
668 complex prioritization challenges and to model landscape-scale rehabilitation scenarios over  
669 time. Similarly, Chan et al. (2011) demonstrated that a 50% protection scenario effectively  
670 stabilized Marxan solutions for ecosystem services, while Delavenne et al. (2012) found that a  
671 50% conservation target offers stronger ecosystem protection. This threshold is designed to  
672 provide optimal protection and ensure ecological sustainability.

673  
674 A comparison of this study's findings with previous research reveals both advances in  
675 conservation planning and the ongoing need for refined spatial analysis in MPAs. For instance,  
676 Jones et al. (2016) emphasized the importance of integrating both ecological and social data to  
677 achieve biodiversity conservation and community benefits when designing the effective MPAs.  
678 While Jones et al. (2016) focused on balancing ecological and socioeconomic factors, our study  
679 concentrated on Ecological Values and their spatial distribution. This difference highlights the  
680 importance of a holistic approach that considers both ecological integrity and human well-being,  
681 suggesting that future studies should incorporate more comprehensive socioeconomic analyses to  
682 better align conservation efforts with community needs.

683  
684 The traditional practice of *Sasi*, implemented by local communities on Arefi Island, plys a key  
685 role in enabling the recovery and reproduction of marine ecosystems, preventing the depletion of  
686 resources due to overfishing. According to MMAF (2014), *sasi* benefit local communities by

Commented [MM17]: Don't see this as a necessary literature review for this paper

Commented [MM18]: Cut, move citations to methods

Commented [MM19]: Cut or combine with paragraph starting on 1119

687 promoting sustainable fishing practices, preserving cultural traditions, and accommodating  
688 sustainable tourism activities. In Raja Ampat, *sasi* involves opening and closing access to  
689 specific areas and regulating certain activities to ensure resources sustainability. Respect for  
690 local *sasi* regulations is vital to the success of conservation efforts.

691  
692 This study demonstrates that Marxan-based conservation planning can support sustainable  
693 fishing practices and preserve marine biodiversity, which are critical objectives for sensitive  
694 ecosystems like Raja Ampat. Specifically, the results show that Marxan's ability to identify core  
695 and utilization zones aligns with the ecological objectives of Sasi, prioritizing high biodiversity  
696 area and essential habitats for ecological protection and sustainable fish production. This  
697 findings align with a report by Rachma Persada et al. (2018), who emphasized that the existence  
698 of local wisdom and culture of *sasi* plays an important role in fostering natural resource  
699 conservation in the Maluku Islands

700  
701 The optimal zoning scenarios produced by Marxan emphasize maintaining biophysical factor by  
702 safeguarding critical habitats, such as coral reefs, seagrass and mangroves, while allocating  
703 zones for sustainable resource use. These findings underscore the potential of Marxan as a  
704 complementary tool to traditional conservation practices like Sasi, ensuring a synergy between  
705 local ecological knowledge and scientific methodologies to achieve long-term sustainability.

706  
707 One limitation of this research is its reliance on static ecological data, which may not fully  
708 capture the dynamic nature of marine ecosystems or their responses to climate change and  
709 human activities. While the spatial resolution and temporal scope of the data were adequate for  
710 initial zoning and scenario planning, they may not reflect subtle but significant ecological change  
711 over time. Additionally, despite Marxan's is an effective tool for conservation planning, it has  
712 limitations in modeling complex human-environment interactions. This highlights the need for  
713 integratrating more adaptive and participatory planning tools that can respond to evolving  
714 ecological and social contexts.

715

## 716 **Conclusions**

717 Satellite image analysis using Object-Based Image Analysis (OBIA) was successfully employed  
718 to map the three key coastal ecosystems on Arefi Island: mangroves, seagrasses, and coral reefs  
719 —providing crucial biophysical data to support spatial planning. The primary focus of this study  
720 was on the use of remote sensing as a methodological tool to generate accurate and reliable input  
721 data for conservation planning, particularly in areas with limited accessibility.

722

723 Following the principles of systematic conservation planning, this study applied a  
724 straightforward remote sensing approach to map mangrove, coral reef, and seagrass ecosystems.  
725 The Marxan model was then used to analyze multi-target scenarios and identify priority areas for

Commented [MM20]: You already told us this in the methods. You incorporated this into your model which is great but you didn't compare with a model without it so no need to keep emphasizing it. But some of this could be used to support paragraph beginning on 1119

726 Marine Protected Areas (MPAs). The accuracy of this mapping was supported by a kappa value  
727 of 0.82, indicating high classification reliability.

728  
729 The total coastal ecosystem area of Arefi Island is approximately 64.78 hectares, encompassing  
730 coral reefs, seagrass beds, and mangroves. Coral reefs cover 36.35% of the total area, primarily  
731 surrounding the island. Seagrass beds, which dominate the northern part of the island, cover  
732 29.42 hectares or 45.41% of the total area. Mangroves occupy 11.81 hectares or 18.24%, mainly  
733 concentrated in the southeastern region, with smaller patches found in residential areas. The  
734 presence of a port and floating fish cages indicates active shipping, fishing, and tourism by the  
735 local community. This study highlights the need to preserve these ecosystems and minimize  
736 degradation caused by human activities to maintain the island's ecological balance and long-term  
737 conservation goals.

738  
739 **Our analysis highlighted** that a conservation objective targeting 40% of the total area (EV II) is  
740 the most effective model for Arefi Island. The zoning breakdown under this scenario includes a  
741 Core Zone of 19.53 hectares, a Utilization Zone of 15.96 hectares, a Sustainable Fisheries Zone  
742 of 15.67 hectares, and Other Zones covering 92.89 hectares. This approach underscores the  
743 importance of incorporating traditional knowledge and community participation into  
744 conservation strategies.

745  
746 These findings advocate for adaptive management strategies and underscore the vital role of  
747 geospatial technology in protecting marine biodiversity while supporting sustainable resource  
748 use in Indonesia's coastal ecosystems.

749

## 750 Acknowledgements

751 We would like to express our sincere gratitude to the Center for Data and Information, the  
752 Research Center for Geoinformatics, the Research Center for Conservation of Marine and Inland  
753 Water Resources, the Research Center for Limnology and Water Resources, the National  
754 Research and Innovation Agency (BRIN) for their provision of data, resources, and collaborative  
755 efforts that greatly contributed to the continuity of this study in achieving the project's goals.

756

757 We also like to thanks the editor and reviewers for their generous and constructive comments on  
758 the manuscript that greatly help us to improve the quality of the manuscript.

759

## 760 References

761 Adame MF, Hermoso V, Perhans K, Lovelock CE, Herrera-Silveira JA. 2015. Selecting cost-  
762 effective areas for restoration of ecosystem services. *Conservation Biology* 29:493–502. DOI:  
763 10.1111/cobi.12391.

Deleted: Sensitivity

Deleted: a

Deleted: confirmed

Commented [MM21]: Not sure how you are deciding this scenario was the best but I don't see any methods that show it was a sensitivity analysis

767 Agnew D, Fryirs K, Leishman MR. 2024. Cost-benefit analysis of working with recovery in river  
768 management using Marxan. *Frontiers in Environmental Science* 12. DOI:  
769 10.3389/fenvs.2024.1425668.

770 Alagador D, Cerdeira JO, Araújo MB. 2016. Climate change, species range shifts and dispersal  
771 corridors: an evaluation of spatial conservation models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*  
772 7:853–866. DOI: 10.1111/2041-210X.12524.

773 Amkieltiela, Handayani C. N., Andradi-Brown D. A., Estradivari, Ford A. K., Beger M., Hakim  
774 A., Muenzel D. K., Carter E., Agung F., Veverka L., Iqbal M., Lazuardi M. E., Fauzi M. N.,  
775 Tranter S. N., Ahmadia G. N. 2022, The rapid expansion of Indonesia's marine protected area  
776 requires improvement in management effectiveness, *Marine Policy*, 146, 105257,  
777 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2022.105257>

778 Anggraeni, D, Handayani, C. N., Daniel, D, Wahyudi, A, Subarno, T, Afandy, Z, Firmansyah, F.  
779 2017. Determining zones of nine marine protected area in Sulawesi Tenggara Province. *Coastal*  
780 *and Ocean Journal (COJ)*. 1(2): 53-62. <https://doi.org/10.29244/COJ.1.2.53-62>

781 Aulia, F., Rusdi, M., Deli, A., Fuadi, A., Irham, M., Indra, I. 2021. The Marxan model for  
782 determining no-catch zones based on conservation targets in the north-eastern region of  
783 Simeulue District. In *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science* (Vol. 711, No. 1,  
784 p. 012024). IOP Publishing. doi:10.1088/1755-1315/711/1/012024

785 Ban, N. C., Adams, V. M., Almany, G. R., Ban, S., Cinner, J. E., McCook, L. J., Mills, M.,  
786 Pressey, R. L., White, A. 2011. Designing, implementing and managing marine protected areas:  
787 Emerging trends and opportunities for coral reef nations. *Journal of Experimental Marine*  
788 *Biology and Ecology*, 408(1-2), 21-31. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2011.07.023>

789 Ball, I. R., Possingham, H. P., and Watts, M. 2009. Marxan and relatives: software for spatial  
790 conservation prioritisation. *Spatial conservation prioritisation: Quantitative methods and*  
791 *computational tools*, 14, 185-196. <https://hdl.handle.net/1959.11/20240>

792 Beger M, Metaxas A, Balbar AC, McGowan JA, Daigle R, Kuempel CD, Treml EA,  
793 Possingham HP. 2022. Demystifying ecological connectivity for actionable spatial conservation  
794 planning. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 37:1079–1091. DOI: 10.1016/j.tree.2022.09.002.

795 Belgiu, M., and Csillik, O. 2018. Sentinel-2 cropland mapping using pixel-based and object-  
796 based time-weighted dynamic time warping analysis. *Remote sensing of environment*, 204, 509-  
797 523. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2017.10.005>

798 Blaschke, T. 2010. "Object based image analysis for remote sensing." *ISPRS Journal of*  
799 *Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 65(1), 2-16. DOI:10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2009.06.004.

800 Burke L, Reytar K, Spalding M, Perry A. 2011. *Reefs at risk revisited*. Washington, DC: World  
801 Resources Institute (WRI).

802 Camps-Valls G, Bruzzone L. 2009. *Kernel Methods for Remote Sensing Data Analysis*. John  
803 Wiley & Sons.

804 Cao, J., Leng, W., Liu, K., Liu, L., He, Z., and Zhu, Y. 2018. Object-based mangrove species  
805 classification using unmanned aerial vehicle hyperspectral images and digital surface models.  
806 *Remote Sensing*, 10(1), 89. <https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10010089>

807 Chan KM, Hoshizaki L, Klinkenberg B. 2011. Ecosystem services in conservation planning:  
808 targeted benefits vs. co-benefits or costs?. *PloS one*, 6(9): 1-14.  
809 <https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024378>

810 Choudhury, M. A. M., Marcheggiani, E., Galli, A., Modica, G., and Somers, B. 2021. Mapping  
811 the urban atmospheric carbon stock by lidar and worldview-3 data. *Forests*, 12(6), 692.  
812 <https://doi.org/10.3390/f12060692>

813 Claudet J., Bopp L., Cheung W. W. L., Devillers R., Escobar-Briones E., Haugan P., Heymans J.  
814 J., Masson-Delmotte V., Matz-Lück N., Miloslavich P., Mullineaux L., Visbeck M., Watson R.,  
815 Zivian A. M., Ansong I., Araujo M., Aricò S., Bailly D., Barbière J., Barnerias C., Bowler C.,  
816 Brun V., Cazenave A., Diver C., Euzen A., Gaye A. T., Hilmi N., Ménard F., Moulin C., Muñoz  
817 N. P., Parmentier R., Pebayle A., Pörtner H. O., Osvaldina S., Ricard P., Santos R. S., Siere M.  
818 A., Thiébaud S., Thiele T., Troublé R., Turra A., Uku J., Gaill F., 2020. "A Roadmap for Using  
819 the UN Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development in Support of Science, Policy,  
820 and Action." *One Earth*, 2(1), 34-42. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2019.10.012>

821 Cinner, J. E., Cindy Huchery, M. Aaron MacNeil, Nicholas A.J. Graham, McClanahan, Joseph  
822 Maina, Eva Maire, John N. Kittinger, Christina C. Hicks, Camilo Mora, Edward H. Allison,  
823 Stephanie D'Agata, Andrew Hoey, David A. Feary, Larry Crowder, Ivor D. Williams, Michel  
824 Kulbicki, Laurent Vigliola, Laurent Wantiez, Graham Edgar, Rick D. Stuart-Smith, Stuart A.  
825 Sandin, Alison L. Green, Marah J. Hardt, Maria Beger, Alan Friedlander, Stuart J. Campbell,  
826 Katherine E. Holmes, Shaun K. Wilson, Eran Brokovich, Andrew J. Brooks, Juan J. Cruz-Motta,  
827 David J. Booth, Pascale Chabanet, Charlie Gough, Mark Tupper, Sebastian C. A. Ferse, U.  
828 Rashid Sumaila & David Mouillot. 2018. "Bright Spots among the World's Coral Reefs."  
829 *Nature*, 535(7612), 416-419. <https://doi.org/10.1038/nature18607>

830 Darmawan, M., Sutrisno, D., Agus, S. B., Nahid, I., Rudiastuti, A. W., Suryanta, J., and  
831 Sangadji, M. S. 2022. Salt pond detection on Sentinel 2 Satellite Imagery using Object-Based  
832 Image Analysis (OBIA) Approach. *In IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*  
833 (Vol. 1109, No. 1, p. 012058). IOP Publishing. DOI: 10.1088/1755-1315/1109/1/012058

834 De Groot R, Moolenaar S, De Vente J, De Leijster V, Ramos ME, Robles AB, Schoonhoven Y,  
835 Verweij P. 2022. Framework for integrated Ecosystem Services assessment of the costs and  
836 benefits of large scale landscape restoration illustrated with a case study in Mediterranean Spain.  
837 *Ecosystem Services* 53:101383. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoser.2021.101383.

838 Delavenne J, Metcalfe K, Smith RJ, Vaz S, Martin CS, Dupuis L, Coppin F, Carpentier A. 2012.  
839 Systematic conservation planning in the eastern English Channel: comparing the Marxan and  
840 Zonation decision-support tools. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 69:75–83. DOI:  
841 10.1093/icesjms/fsr180.

842 Dinerstein E, Olson D, Joshi A, Vynne C, Burgess ND, Wikramanayake E, Hahn N, Palminteri  
843 S, Hedao P, Noss R, Hansen M, Locke H, Ellis EC, Jones B, Barber CV, Hayes R, Kormos C,  
844 Martin V, Crist E, Sechrest W, Price L, Baillie JEM, Weeden D, Suckling K, Davis C, Sizer N,  
845 Moore R, Thau D, Birch T, Potapov P, Turubanova S, Tyukavina A, de Souza N, Pintea L, Brito  
846 JC, Llewellyn OA, Miller AG, Patzelt A, Ghazanfar SA, Timberlake J, Klöser H, Shennan-

847 Farpón Y, Kindt R, Lillesø J-PB, van Breugel P, Graudal L, Voge M, Al-Shammari KF, Saleem  
848 M. 2017. An Ecoregion-Based Approach to Protecting Half the Terrestrial Realm. *BioScience*  
849 67:534–545. DOI: 10.1093/biosci/bix014.

850 Edgar G J, Stuart-Smith R D, Willis T J, Kininmonth S, Baker S C, Banks S, Barrett N S,  
851 Becerro M A, Bernard A T F, Berkhout J, Buxton C D, Campbell S J, Cooper A T, Davey M,  
852 Edgar S C, Försterra G, Galván D E, Irigoyen A J, Kushner D J, Moura R, Parnell P E, Shears N  
853 T, Soler G, Strain E M A, Thomson R J. 2014. "Global Conservation Outcomes Depend on  
854 Marine Protected Areas with Five Key Features." *Nature*, 506(7487), 216-220.  
855 DOI:10.1038/nature13022

856 Egoh BN, Reyers B, Rouget M, Richardson DM. 2011. Identifying priority areas for ecosystem  
857 service management in South African grasslands. *Journal of Environmental Management*  
858 92:1642–1650. DOI: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2011.01.019.

859 Estradivari, Agung, M. F., Adhuri, D. S., Ferse, S. C., Sualia, I., Andradi-Brown, D. A.,  
860 Campbell, S. J., Iqbal M., Jonas H. D., Lazuardi M. E., Nanlohy H., Pakiding F., Pusparini N. K.  
861 S., Ramadhana H. C., Ruchimat T., Santiadji I. W. V., Timisela N. R., Veverka L., Ahmadia, G.  
862 N. 2022. Marine conservation beyond MPAs: Towards the recognition of other effective area-  
863 based conservation measures (OECMs) in Indonesia. *Marine Policy*, 137, 104939.  
864 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104939>

865 European Space Agency. 2024. [https://earth.esa.int/eogateway/missions/worldview-](https://earth.esa.int/eogateway/missions/worldview-3#instruments-section)  
866 [3#instruments-section](https://earth.esa.int/eogateway/missions/worldview-3#instruments-section) (viewed on Sept 18, 2024)

867 Firmansyah, F. 2009. Identification of Conservation Areas Using Marxan Software on Maratua  
868 Island and Kakaban Island, Berau Regency, East Kalimantan Province. Dissertation, Faculty of  
869 Fisheries and Marine Science, IPB University, Bogor, Indonesia

870 Firmansyah F, Estradivari E, Handayani C, Krueck N, Mustofa A, Daniel D. 2018. Integrasi  
871 model konektivitas larva dan ukuran optimum zona inti dalam desain kawasan konservasi  
872 perairan. *Majalah Ilmiah Globe*. 20:107. DOI: 10.24895/MIG.2018.20-2.835.

873 Golbuu, Y., Fabricius, K., Victor, S., and Richmond, R. H. (2008). Gradients in coral reef  
874 communities exposed to muddy river discharge in Pohnpei, Micronesia. *Estuarine, Coastal and*  
875 *Shelf Science*, 76(1), 14-20. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2007.06.005>

876 Green AL, Fernandes L, Albany G, Abesamis R, McLeod E, Aliño PM, White AT, Salm R,  
877 Tanzer J, Pressey RL. 2014. Designing Marine Reserves for Fisheries Management, Biodiversity  
878 Conservation, and Climate Change Adaptation. *Coastal Management* 42:143–159. DOI:  
879 10.1080/08920753.2014.877763.

880 Green, A., Smith, S. E., Lipsett-Moore, G., Groves, C., Peterson, N., Sheppard, S., Lokani P.,  
881 Hamilton R., Albany J., Aitsi ., Bualia, L., 2009. Designing a resilient network of marine  
882 protected areas for Kimbe Bay, Papua New Guinea. *Oryx*, 43(4), 488-498.  
883 <https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605309990342>

884 Hamilton SE, Friess DA. 2018. Global carbon stocks and potential emissions due to mangrove  
885 deforestation from 2000 to 2012. *Nature Climate Change* 8:240–244. DOI: 10.1038/s41558-018-  
886 0090-4.

887 Halpern B. S., Frazier M., Potapenko J., Casey K. S., Koenig K., Longo C., Lowndes J. L.,  
888 Rockwood R. C., Selig E. R., Selkoe K. A., Walbridge S., 2019. "Spatial and Temporal Changes  
889 in Cumulative Human Impacts on the World's Ocean." *Nature Communications*, 10(1), 1-10.  
890 <https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8615>

891 Harris LR, Holness SD. 2023. A practical approach to setting heuristic marine biodiversity  
892 targets for systematic conservation planning. *Biological Conservation* 285:110218. DOI:  
893 10.1016/j.biocon.2023.110218.

894 Henneberg, J. (2023). Bigger Isn't Always Better: Why Small, State-Run MPAS Are the Answer  
895 to Meeting Conservation Goals Effectively. *Loy. Mar. LJ*, 22, 102.

896 Hossain, M. D., and Chen, D. 2019. Segmentation for Object-Based Image Analysis (OBIA): A  
897 review of algorithms and challenges from remote sensing perspective. *ISPRS Journal of*  
898 *Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 150, 115-134.  
899 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2019.02.009>

900 IUCN. 2008. Establishing Resilient Marine Protected Area Networks Making it Happen: Full  
901 Technical Version, Including Ecological, Social and Governance Considerations, as Well as  
902 Case Studies. IUCN.

903 Jones, P. J., De Santo, E. M. 2016. Viewpoint—Is the race for remote, very large marine protected  
904 areas (VLMPAs) taking us down the wrong track?. *Marine Policy*, 73, 231-234.  
905 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2016.08.015>.

906 Kukkala AS, Moilanen A. 2017. Ecosystem services and connectivity in spatial conservation  
907 prioritization. *Landscape Ecology* 32:5–14. DOI: 10.1007/s10980-016-0446-y.

908 Kovacs T., Theischinger G., Horvath R., Juhasz P., 2021, Odonata from Batanta (Indonesia, West  
909 Papua) with description of one new species, *Opusc. Zool. Budapest*, 52(2): 119–139, DOI:  
910 10.18348/opzool.2021.2.119

911 Krueck, N. C., Ahmadi, G. N., Possingham, H. P., Riginos, C., Treml, E. A., and Mumby, P. J.  
912 2017. Marine reserve targets to sustain and rebuild unregulated fisheries. *PLoS Biology*, 15(1),  
913 e2000537. <https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2000537>

914 Marcos C, Díaz D, Fietz K, Forcada A, Ford A, García-Charton JA, Goñi R, Lenfant P, Mallol S,  
915 Mouillot D, Pérez-Marcos M, Puebla O, Manel S, Pérez-Ruzafa A. 2021. Reviewing the  
916 Ecosystem Services, Societal Goods, and Benefits of Marine Protected Areas. *Frontiers in*  
917 *Marine Science* 8:613819. DOI: 10.3389/fmars.2021.613819.

918 Margules CR, Pressey RL. 2000. Systematic conservation planning. *Nature* 405:243–253. DOI:  
919 10.1038/35012251.

920 McKenna, Sheila and Allen, Gerald and Suryadi, Suer. 2002. A Marine Rapid Assessment of the  
921 Raja Ampat Islands, Papua Province, Indonesia.  
922 [https://www.researchgate.net/publication/309287731\\_A\\_Marine\\_Rapid\\_Assessment\\_of\\_the\\_Raj](https://www.researchgate.net/publication/309287731_A_Marine_Rapid_Assessment_of_the_Raja_Ampat_Islands_Papua_Province_Indonesia)  
923 [a\\_Ampat\\_Islands\\_Papua\\_Province\\_Indonesia](https://www.researchgate.net/publication/309287731_A_Marine_Rapid_Assessment_of_the_Raja_Ampat_Islands_Papua_Province_Indonesia) (Accessed on 5 December 2024).

924 Moilanen, A., Ball, I. R. 2009. Heuristic and approximate optimization methods for spatial  
925 conservation prioritization. In: Moilanen A, Wilson KA, Possingham HP (eds) *Spatial*

926 conservation prioritization: quantitative methods and computational tools. Oxford University  
927 Press, Oxford.

928 Mora, C., and Peter F. Sale. 2011. Ongoing global biodiversity loss and the need to move  
929 beyond protected areas: a review of the technical and practical shortcomings of protected areas  
930 on land and sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. Vol. 434: 251–266, 2011 doi:  
931 10.3354/meps09214

932 [MMAF] Decree of the Minister of Marine Affairs and Fisheries of the Republic of Indonesia  
933 Number 36 of 2014 concerning the Marine Conservation Area of the Raja Ampat Archipelago,  
934 Raja Ampat Regency, West Papua Province. 2014.

935 [MMAF] Regulation of the Minister of Marine Affairs and Fisheries of the Republic of  
936 Indonesia Number 23 of 2016 concerning Coastal Area and Small Islands Management  
937 Planning. 2016.

938 [MMAF]. 2018. Rencana Pengelolaan dan Zonasi Kawasan Konservasi Perairan Kepulauan Raja  
939 Ampat Tahun 2019 – 2038.  
940 [https://birdsheadseascape.com/download/legislation%20and%20legal%20documents/Final-RPZ-  
941 KKP-Kep-R4\\_pdfA.pdf](https://birdsheadseascape.com/download/legislation%20and%20legal%20documents/Final-RPZ-KKP-Kep-R4_pdfA.pdf) (Accessed on 12 November 2024)

942 Petrou, Z.I., Manakos, I., Stathaki, T., 2015. Remote sensing for biodiversity monitoring : a  
943 review of methods for biodiversity indicator extraction and assessment of progress towards  
944 international targets. *Biodivers Conserv* (2015) 24:2333–2363. DOI 10.1007/s10531-015-0947-z

945 Rachma Persada, N.P, Fachruddin M. Mangunjaya, Imran SL Tobing. 2018. Sasi sebagai  
946 Budaya Konservasi Sumber Daya Alam di Kepulauan Maluku. *Jurnal Ilmu dan Budaya*. Vol. 41  
947 No. 59 (2018): <https://doi.org/10.47313/jib.v41i59.453>

948 Sairiltiata, S. 2023. Eksistensi Sasi Perempuan Sebagai Kearifan Lokal Adat dan Budaya di Desa  
949 Moning Pulau Wetar Kecamatan Wetar Timur Kabupaten Maluku Barat Daya. *Indonesia  
950 Journal of Business Law*, 2(2), 47-57.

951 Schröter M, Remme RP. 2016. Spatial prioritisation for conserving ecosystem services:  
952 comparing hotspots with heuristic optimisation. *Landscape Ecology* 31:431–450. DOI:  
953 10.1007/s10980-015-0258-5.

954 Sidik F., C. Yusuf, E. Ampou. 2008. The Use of MARXAN to Re-Zone MPA (Study Case: Gili  
955 Sulat-Gili Lawang Lombok), Proceedings of IReSES Symposium/JAXA, 25 March 2008,  
956 Denpasar Bali, Indonesia, pp. 10-16.

957 Stelzenmüller, V., Lee, J., South, A., Foden, J., and Rogers, S. I. 2013. Practical tools to support  
958 marine spatial planning: a review and some prototype tools. *Marine Policy*, 38, 214-227.  
959 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2012.05.038>

960 Suprianto AE, Agus SB, Arhatin RE. 2018. Identifikasi Area Perlindungan Laut Berbasis  
961 Masyarakat Potensial Sebagai Sub Zona Menggunakan Marxan di Kepulauan Seribu, Jakarta.  
962 <https://repository.ipb.ac.id/handle/123456789/95988> (viewed 1 September 2024)

963 Sutrisno, D., Sugara, A., Darmawan, M. 2021. The Assessment of Coral Reefs Mapping  
964 Methodology: An Integrated Method Approach. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and  
965 Environmental Science*, 2021, 750(1), 012030. doi:10.1088/1755-1315/750/1/012030



966 Sutton, M. 2023. Protecting the Remarkable Coral Reefs of Raja Ampat, Indonesia. Available at  
967 [https://www.goldmanprize.org/blog/protecting-the-remarkable-coral-reefs-of-raja-ampat-](https://www.goldmanprize.org/blog/protecting-the-remarkable-coral-reefs-of-raja-ampat-indonesia/)  
968 [indonesia/](https://www.goldmanprize.org/blog/protecting-the-remarkable-coral-reefs-of-raja-ampat-indonesia/) (accessed September 3, 2024).

969 Tasidjawa S, Mandagi SV, Lasabuda R. 2013. Determination of Core Zone of Marine Sanctuary  
970 in Bahoi Village, North Minahasa Regency. *Aquatic Science and Management*:10–16. DOI:  
971 [10.35800/jasm.0.0.2013.2271](https://doi.org/10.35800/jasm.0.0.2013.2271).

972 Thorhaug A, Gallagher JB, Kiswara W, Prathep A, Huang X, Yap T-K, Dorward S, Berlyn G.  
973 2020. Coastal and estuarine blue carbon stocks in the greater Southeast Asia region: Seagrasses  
974 and mangroves per nation and sum of total. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 160:111168. DOI:  
975 [10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111168](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111168).

976 Trip, E. D. L., Tavares, D. C., Sutherland, W. J., & R. C. J. 2019. Protected areas for marine  
977 megafauna: Aims and missing links. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, 558.  
978 <https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00558>

979 Ventura, D., Bonifazi, A., Gravina, M. F., Belluscio, A., Ardizzone, G. 2018. Mapping and  
980 classification of ecologically sensitive marine habitats using unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV)  
981 imagery and object-based image analysis (OBIA). *Remote Sensing*. 10(9): 1-23.  
982 <https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10091331>

983 Waldron, A., Vanessa Adam, James Allan, Andy Arnell, Greg Asner, Scott Atkinson,  
984 Alessandro Baccini, Jonathan EM Baillie, Andrew Balmford, J Austin Beau, Luke Brander,  
985 Eduardo Brondizio, Aaron Bruner, Neil Burgess, K Burkart, Stuart Butchart, Rio Button, Roman  
986 Carrasco, William Cheung, Villy Christensen, Andy Clements, Marta Coll, Moreno di Marco,  
987 Marine Deguignet, Eric Dinerstein, Erle Ellis, Florian Eppink, Jamison Ervin, Anita Escobedo,  
988 John Fa, Alvaro Fernandes-Llamazares, Sanjiv Fernando, Shinichiro Fujimori, Beth Fulton,  
989 Stephen Garnett, James Gerber, David Gill, Trisha Gopalakrishna, Nathan Hahn, Ben Halpern,  
990 Tomoko Hasegawa, Petr Havlik, Vuokko Heikinheimo, Ryan Heneghan, Ella Henry, Florian  
991 Humpenoder, Harry Jonas, Kendall Jones, Lucas Joppa, A.R. Joshi, Martin Jung, Naomi  
992 Kingston, Carissa Klein, Tamas Krisztin, Vicky Lam, David Leclere, Peter Lindsey, Harvey  
993 Locke, TE Lovejoy, Philip Madgwick, Yadvinder Malhi, Pernilla Malmer, Martine Maron, Juan  
994 Mayorga, Hans van Meijl, Dan Miller, Zsolt Molnar, Nathaniel Mueller, Nibedita Mukherjee,  
995 Robin Naidoo, Katia Nakamura; Prakash Nepal; RF Noss; Beth O'Leary; D Olson; Juliano  
996 Palcios Abrantes; Midori Paxton; Alexander Popp; Hugh Possingham; Jeff Prestemon; April  
997 Reside; Catherine Robinson; John Robinson; Enric Sala; Kim Scherrer; Mark Spalding; Anna  
998 Spenceley; Jeroen Steenbeck; Elke Stehfest; Bernardo Strassborg; Rashid Sumaila; Kirsty  
999 Swinnerton; Jocelyne Sze; Derek Tittensor; Tuuli Toivonen; Alejandra Toledo; Pablo Negret  
1000 Torres; Willem-Jan Van Zeist; James Vause; Oscar Venter; Thais Vilela; Piero Visconti1; Carly  
1001 Vynne; Reg Watson; James Watson; Eric Wikramanayake; Brooke Williams; Brendan Wintle;  
1002 Stephen Woodley; Wenchao Wu; Kerstin Zande; Yuchen Zhang; YP Zhang. 2020. Protecting  
1003 30% of the planet for nature: costs, benefits and economic implications. University of  
1004 Cambridge. [https://www.conservation.cam.ac.uk/files/waldron\\_report\\_30\\_by\\_30\\_publish.pdf](https://www.conservation.cam.ac.uk/files/waldron_report_30_by_30_publish.pdf)

1005 Watson KB, Galford GL, Sonter LJ, Koh I, Ricketts TH. 2019. Effects of human demand on

1006 conservation planning for biodiversity and ecosystem services. *Conservation Biology* 33:942–  
1007 952. DOI: 10.1111/cobi.13276.

1008 Watts, M. E., Stewart, R. R., Martin, T. G., Klein, C. J., Carwardine, J., and Possingham, H. P.  
1009 2017. Systematic conservation planning with Marxan. *Learning Landscape Ecology: A Practical*  
1010 *Guide to Concepts and Techniques*, 211-227. [https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6374-4\\_13](https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6374-4_13)

1011 White, A.T., Christie, P., et al. 2014. Marine Protected Areas in the Coral Triangle: Progress,  
1012 Issues, and Options. *Coastal Management*, 42(2), 87-106  
1013 <https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/08920753.2014.878177> Weeks, R. 2017.  
1014 Incorporating seascape connectivity in conservation prioritisation. *PloS one*, 12(7), e0182396.  
1015 <https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182396>

1016 Wijayanto, C., Yulianda, F., Imran, Z. 2021. The core zone decisive of marine conservation area  
1017 in Southeast Sulawesi using marxan. In *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental*  
1018 *Science*, IOP Publishing, 967(1), p. 012001.

1019 Wilson KA, Carwardine J, Possingham HP. 2009. Setting Conservation Priorities. *Annals of the*  
1020 *New York Academy of Sciences* 1162:237–264. DOI: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04149.x.

1021 Yusuf, C., Ampou, E., Sidik, F. 2008. The Use of MARXAN to Re-Zone MPA (Study Case: Gili  
1022 Sulat-Gili Lawang Lombok). In *IRESES, Org. Ireses symposium/jaxa workshop*. IRESES.

1023 Zhang L, Li J. 2022. Identifying priority areas for biodiversity conservation based on Marxan  
1024 and InVEST model. *Landscape Ecology* 37:3043–3058. DOI: 10.1007/s10980-022-01547-0.